# **AGREEMENT**

# Between

BOARD OF TRUSTEES, MCHENRY COUNTY COLLEGE, COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT NO. 528

&

MCHENRY COUNTY COLLEGE STAFF COUNCIL LOCAL 1642, IFT/AFT, AFL/CIO

July 1, 2024 through June 30, 2028

#### Preamble

The College and the Union agree that all employees should work in an environment that fosters mutual respect and professionalism. All employees are responsible for contributing to such an environment and are expected to treat others with courtesy and respect. The parties agree that inappropriate behavior in the workplace does not promote the College's mission, employee well-being, or productivity. Inappropriate workplace behavior will not be tolerated.

If an employee believes they have been subjected to inappropriate workplace behavior, they should report the behavior in accordance with the College's Employee Harassment Procedures.

This Preamble is not subject to the grievance procedure in Article V – Grievance Procedure.

# **Table of Contents**

| Article I -<br>1.1 | Union Board Relations                                  |    |
|--------------------|--|----|
| 1.2                | New and Modified Positions                             |    |
| 1.3                | Integrity of the Unit                                  |    |
| 1.4                | Voluntary Dues Check off                               |    |
| 1.4                | Union Meetings   |    |
|                    | -  |    |
| 1.6                | Distribution of Union Material                         |    |
| 1.7                | Release Time for the Union                             |    |
| 1.8                | Release Time for Grievance and Contract Administration |    |
| 1.9                | Reporting  |    |
| 1.10               | Records  |    |
| 1.11               | College Council  |    |
| 1.12               | Participation at Board Meetings                        |    |
| 1.13               | Board Policies   |    |
| 1.14               | No Strike  | 9  |
| 1.15               | Non-Discrimination                                     | 9  |
| 1.16               | Notice of Employment Status                            | 9  |
| Article II<br>2.1  | – Terms & Conditions of Employment<br>Workday          |    |
| 2.2                | Workweek   | 10 |
| 2.3                | Breaks   | 10 |
| 2.4                | Lunch  | 10 |
| 2.5                | Summer Work Schedule                                   | 11 |
| 2.6                | Overtime Break and Lunch                               | 11 |
| 2.7                | Overtime   | 11 |
| 2.8                | Assignment Outside Position                            | 11 |
| 2.9                | Additional Assignments                                 | 12 |
| 2.10               | Seniority  | 12 |
| 2.11               | Seniority Lists  | 12 |
| 2.12               | Layoff or Reduction to Part-Time                       | 12 |
| 2.13               | Recall from Layoff                                     | 13 |
| 2.14               | Vacancies  | 14 |

| 2.15 | Performance Evaluation  | 14 |
|------|---|----|
| 2.16 | Personnel File  | 15 |
| 2.17 | Probationary Period   | 15 |
| 2.18 | Discipline  | 15 |
| 2.19 | Emergency/Scheduled Closing                                       | 16 |
| 2.20 | Management Called Meetings  | 16 |
| 2.21 | Job Review  | 16 |
| 2.22 | Health and Safety   | 17 |
| 2.23 | Automation and Reorganization                                     | 18 |
| 2.24 | Job Descriptions  | 18 |
| 2.25 | Uniformed Employees   | 18 |
| 2.26 | Grant Funded Employees  | 19 |
| 2.27 | Duration of Temporary Replacements                                | 19 |
| 2.28 | Telework Arrangement  | 19 |
|      | III - Leaves, Vacation, Holidays                                  |    |
| 3.1  | Sick Leave  |    |
| 3.2  | Sick Leave Pool   |    |
| 3.3  | Personal Leave  |    |
| 3.4  | Discretionary Unpaid Leave for Personal Health or Family Hardship |    |
| 3.5  | Illinois Family Bereavement Leave Act (FBLA)                      | 23 |
| 3.6  | Jury Duty   |    |
| 3.7  | Military Leave  |    |
| 3.8  | Family and Medical Leave Act                                      | 24 |
| 3.9  | Vacation  | 25 |
| 3.10 | Holidays  | 26 |
| 3.11 | Professional Meetings   | 27 |
| 3.12 | Sponsored Leave   | 27 |
| 3.13 | General Leave of Absence  | 28 |
| 3.14 | Time Construction   | 28 |
| 3.15 | Fitness for Duty  | 28 |

| Article          | IV - Wages  | 29 |
|------------------|---|----|
| 4.1              | Reclassification Compensation                           | 29 |
| 4.2              | Shift Differential                                      | 29 |
| 4.3              | Call-Back Pay   | 29 |
| 4.4              | Overtime Pay  | 29 |
| 4.5              | Vision, Dental, Medical and Hospitalization Insurance   | 29 |
| 4.6              | Life and Accidental Death & Dismemberment Insurance     | 31 |
| 4.7              | Tuition Waiver  | 31 |
| 4.8              | Reimbursement for Educational and Professional Learning | 31 |
| 4.9              | Flexible Schedule for Courses Taken During the Workday  | 31 |
| 4.10             | Pay Periods/Direct Deposit                              | 32 |
| 4.11             | Tax-Sheltered SURS Payments                             | 32 |
| 4.12             | Salary  | 32 |
| 4.13             | Educational and Professional Learning Monetary Awards   | 32 |
| 4.14             | Retirement Benefits                                     | 34 |
| Article \        | V - Grievance Procedure                                 | 35 |
| 5.1              | Objective   | 35 |
| 5.2              | Definition of Grievance                                 | 35 |
| 5.3              | Definition of Days                                      | 35 |
| 5.4              | Time Limits for Filing                                  | 35 |
| 5.5              | Pre-Grievance Consultation                              | 35 |
| 5.6              | Grievance Steps   | 35 |
| 5.7              | Arbitration   | 37 |
| 5.8              | Miscellaneous Provisions                                | 38 |
| Article \<br>6.1 | VI – Miscellaneous<br>Severability                      |    |
| 6.2              | Distribution of the Agreement                           |    |
|                  | -   |    |
| 6.3              | Matters not Covered by this Agreement                   |    |
| 6.4              | Duration  |    |
| 6.5              | Board Rights  |    |
|                  | dix Adix B  |    |
|                  | dix C   |    |

#### Agreement

# McHenry County College Staff Council, Local 1642, IFT/AFT/AFL-CIO &

## **Board of Trustees of McHenry County College**

#### **Article I - Union Board Relations**

# 1.1 Recognition & Scope

The McHenry County College District 528 Board of Trustees ("Board") recognizes the McHenry County College Staff Council, Local 1642, IFT/AFT/AFL-CIO ("Union") as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment for exempt and non-exempt staff, and whose positions are listed in Appendix B at the time of ratification of this contract, with tri-annual updates published on the employee portal.

EXCLUDED from the bargaining unit: Employees holding positions classified as Administrative, Confidential, Campus Police/Safety, Temporary/Contract, Student, Contingent (non-bargaining unit), and all other persons excluded by the terms of the Illinois Educational Labor Relations Act.

# 1.2 New and Modified Positions

The Board shall notify the Union within ten (10) working days of Board or administrative approval to establish a new unit position. If the parties do not agree that the duties of the new position warrant its inclusion in the unit, they shall review such proposed position and attempt to reach agreement. Absent mutual agreement, either party may file a unit clarification petition with the Illinois Educational Labor Relations Board (IELRB). The Board shall set the rate of pay for such new position consistent with the rate of pay for positions with substantially similar duties and experience.

A new position is defined as an additional position where a majority of the job duties as set forth in the job description for such position are not currently being performed by a bargaining unit employee. The College's Office of Human Resources shall notify the Union President about the newly created position in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.14 of this Agreement.

Upon Board approval of a modified position, whose job duties are substantially similar to those performed by a current bargaining unit employee, the position shall be offered to the current employee if such employee possesses the necessary skills and qualifications for the modified position. An employee's qualification shall be determined in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.12 of this Agreement. Any employee who has been placed at Step 2 (Second Conference/Written Reprimand) or Step 3 (Suspension) in the College's Progressive Disciplinary Procedures for Non-exempt and Exempt Employees within the past twelve 12) months is deemed not qualified for a modified position.

#### 1.3 Integrity of the Unit

Neither the Board nor administration shall meet, discuss, confer, or bargain with any other employee organization, its agents, or any individual over wages, hours, terms and conditions of employment, except as provided herein.

# 1.4 Voluntary Dues Check off

Upon receipt of a voluntary authorization in writing by an employee, the Union will notify Payroll and the Office of Human Resources, and the Board shall deduct from the employee's wages the amount of Union dues each pay period. The treasurer of the Union or designee shall designate the amount of such deductions to the Board in writing.

The Union may change the method or amount of such deductions upon written notice to the Board, via the Office of Human Resources provided such shall not be changed more than one (1) time each fiscal year. The dues and a list of employees from whose pay the dues have been deducted along with the amount deducted from each shall be forwarded to the Union not later than fourteen (14) days after such deductions were made.

Authorization shall be cancelable by the signer according to the terms of the authorization. Upon said cancellation by the signer, the Union will notify the Board to stop dues deductions, such to be effective no later than fifteen (15) calendar days following such cancellation.

The Union shall hold the Board harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, actions, complaints, suits, or other forms of liability that arise out of or by reason of action taken by the Board for the purposes of complying with this section or in reliance on any list, notice, certification, affidavit, or assignment furnished under such section.

# 1.5 Union Meetings

- A. In accordance with applicable Board policy, the Union shall have the right (1) to use College services, provided the Union agrees to pay the standard rates for the services and supplies used, and (2) to the same access as other College organizations have to use College facilities for meetings. Use of such services and facilities shall be coordinated, scheduled and prioritized at such times and places that do not interfere with the operations of the College. The Union shall promptly reimburse the College for any expenses in connection with the preparation for or cleaning up subsequent to such meeting.
- B. The Union will be provided with an opportunity to hold a one (1) hour general membership meeting once during the Fall and once during the Spring semester. Reasonable notice shall be provided to the College. The College will not unreasonably prevent a member from attending.

## 1.6 Distribution of Union Material

The Board shall provide appropriate accessible resources to employees for use by the Union for the posting of its materials. The Union may distribute a reasonable amount of material through the regular College distribution system, provided it does not interfere with the operation of the College, and provided further that the Union shall pay any fees or charges required by the United States Postal Service or other agency mandated by law to do so. The Union Officers shall have the right to use College office equipment and Duplication Center services including College email system to distribute union materials provided it does not interfere with the operation of the College and provided further that the Union shall reimburse the Board for the reasonable cost of supplies for any extraordinary expenses incurred.

#### 1.7 Release Time for the Union

The Board shall grant release time to the Union in the total amount of one hundred seventy six (176) hours per year, but not more than forty (40) hours per month without loss of pay or compensatory time. Such release time shall be available for use by Staff Council Officers and Area Representatives. Such release time may be used as full days or fractions of days provided released time shall not be taken in increments of less than one-half (1/2) hour. The Union shall give advanced notice of twenty (24) hours to the employee's immediate supervisor or, if he/she is not available, to the Chief Human Resources Officer. In addition, the Union President shall be released from employment duties for one (1) hour per week to conduct Union Business. Any unused released time shall not be accumulated or carried over from week-to-week.

## 1.8 Release Time for Grievance and Contract Administration

The grievant and not more than two (2) Staff Council Officer(s) shall be given paid time off to participate in Step 1, 2, or 3 meetings as provided in Section 5.6, if the meetings are conducted during the employees' working time.

Paid time off is also accorded Officers when requested at any meeting by the College. The Officer shall notify his or her supervisor, or his or her supervisor's designee, prior to leaving the department.

# 1.9 Reporting

The Secretary of the Staff Council Union will provide a monthly report in a format provided by the College to the Chief Human Resources Officer that includes all hours used for release time.

# 1.10 Records

Upon written request by a Union Officer, within seven (7) working days, the Board shall deliver to the Union public records which are necessary to permit the Union to fulfill its responsibility as bargaining agent. The Union shall reimburse the Board for the reasonable cost of copying such materials.

A time extension may be requested of the Union President by the Board.

## 1.11 College Council

During the term of this contract, the College shall undertake the formation of the College Council. The College Council will represent shared responsibility between the staff and the college community. Through this council, the Staff shall have the right and responsibility to participate in shared planning in the areas of Strategic Planning, Policy and Procedure development, Issue Management, Campus Communication, and any other topics related to college-wide issues. Staff will have a voice in identifying, reviewing and addressing college needs and priorities, and will provide information and make recommendations to ensure the unity of purpose and efficiency of operations supporting student success.

The Union President or Union Executive Board may recommend to the President of the College, Staff unit representatives to serve on the College Council. It will be at the discretion of the College President, in collaboration with the Union President, to make the final selection of the Staff representative and to determine the number of appointees to the College Council.

While the intent is to create a positive and effective College Council and foster a climate of trust and respect, it is important to operate with the understanding agreement in decision making may not always be reached, the process of utilizing College Council may not be required at all times, and ultimate responsibility for College decisions resides with the President and Board of Trustees.

# 1.12 Participation at Board Meetings

The Union President or designee shall be accorded the privilege of addressing Board meetings for a reasonable period of time allocated by the Board upon request prior to the Board meeting. Collective bargaining, grievances, or other subjects which are appropriately discussed by the Board in Executive Session, shall not be discussed by the Union during their presentation.

#### 1.13 Board Policies

The Board shall deliver one (1) copy of its official policies, rules, regulations, and handbooks, and all subsequent additions, deletions, and amendments to the Union President or designee at such time they become available.

#### 1.14 No Strike

During the term of this agreement, neither the Union nor its officers or agents, nor any of the employees covered by this agreement, will authorize, institute, engage, sponsor, or participate in any strike against McHenry County College including sympathy strike, picketing, concerted refusal to work, concerted refusal to follow reasonable work instructions, or any other concerted interruption of the operations of the College. Any or all employees who violate this provision during their scheduled working hours may be subject to the College's progressive disciplinary process. The Board agrees that for the duration of this agreement it will not engage in a lockout of employees.

# 1.15 Non-Discrimination

Neither the Board nor the Union shall discriminate against any employee as per Board Policy. The Union agrees that the Board may take any action necessary to comply with anti-discrimination laws. Except for alleged discrimination for Union activities, the employee or Union who chooses to seek relief from any legal entity for such alleged discrimination agrees not to pursue such relief through the Grievance Procedure.

#### 1.16 Notice of Employment Status

The Board, through the Office of Human Resources, shall notify the Union President or designee of the hiring, termination or change in employment status of bargaining unit employees within ten (10) working days.

#### Article II – Terms & Conditions of Employment

## 2.1 Workday

The regular full-time employee workday shall be eight (8) hours, as the job position requires, except as provided in Section 2.5 regarding summer hours. By agreement between the employee and supervisor, a flexible workday may be scheduled on an as needed basis. If the intent is more than "as needed" the request must be approved by the Office of Human Resources, Staff Council, and supervisor as department operations allow.

## 2.2 Workweek

The regularly scheduled full-time workweek shall be forty (40) hours for five (5) consecutive days, beginning on Sunday and ending on Saturday, except as provided in Section 2.5 (Summer Work Schedule).

By agreement between the employee and immediate supervisor, a flexible workweek may be scheduled on an as needed basis. If the intent is more than "as needed" the request must be approved by the Office of Human Resources, Staff Council, and supervisor as department operations allow. This may also apply during the week of Spring Break or other weeks of non-instruction.

As college and/or department operations warrant, any scheduled assignment changes, such as evening or weekends, shall be determined on a rotating seniority basis among the employees of a particular office/department who are fully qualified to perform the available work.

The Board shall reasonably accommodate for domestic hardship or the tenets of a recognized religion of the employee's faith.

Exempt employees shall from time to time work in excess of or less than the regular work week or on a weekend in order to complete necessary duties.

# 2.3 Breaks

Each full-time employee shall have two (2) paid, uninterrupted fifteen (15) minute breaks per workday. Part-time employees shall have one (1) paid, uninterrupted fifteen (15) minute break for each four (4) hour period of work.

#### 2.4 Lunch

## **Full-Time Employees**

Each full-time employee shall have one (1) uninterrupted, unpaid one-half (1/2) hour lunch period, which shall not be considered part of the regular workday. This lunch period shall be taken after not more than five (5) hours of work.

# **Part-Time Employees**

Each part-time employee who works less than a seven and one-half (7  $\frac{1}{2}$ ) hour day may choose to take a one (1) uninterrupted, unpaid one-half (1/2) hour lunch period, which shall not be considered part of the regular workday. If the part-time employee chooses to take this lunch period, it shall be taken after not more than five (5) hours of work.

#### 2.5 Summer Work Schedule

The regular workweek shall be reduced during the summer to four (4) days. Full-time employees shall work thirty-two (32) hours during such four (4) day weeks with the College remaining closed on Fridays. Full-time employees shall be paid for forty (40) hours... Vacation/leave days taken during such summer schedule by full-time employees shall be counted as eight (8) hours or thirty-two (32) hours for a full work week. Such employees shall not be required to work more than four (4) days during any such week, unless business circumstances arise.

Vacation/leave days for part-time non-exempt employees working their total regularly scheduled weekly hours in four (4) days rather than five (5) will be calculated based upon the actual number of hours missed. Such employees shall not be required to work more than four (4) days during any such week, unless business circumstances arise.

Flexible hours may be arranged between the employee and his/her supervisor. The official work schedule shall be filed in the Office of Human Resources.

This section shall be reviewed for continuation at the termination of this contract.

## 2.6 Overtime Break and Lunch

Any employee on overtime shall have one (1) paid, uninterrupted fifteen (15) minute break within each four (4) hours of overtime and one (1) unpaid, uninterrupted one-half (1/2) hour lunch after not more than five (5) hours of overtime.

# 2.7 Overtime

Overtime shall be performed only with the prior approval of the employee's supervisor. Overtime shall be offered on a rotating basis among the unit employees of a particular office/department on a seniority basis among those on the same shift who are fully qualified to perform the available work. Except as unusual circumstances shall require, overtime shall not be mandatory if fully qualified employees volunteer for such work. This Section shall not be applicable to employees who are exempt under the Fair Labor Standards Act.

## 2.8 Assignment Outside Position

An employee in the bargaining unit assigned to temporarily perform the essential duties of another bargaining unit position, in addition to their own duties, shall receive a five percent (5%) adjustment of their current hourly or weekly pay for essential duties performed in a higher position, or up to a three percent (3%) adjustment of their current hourly or weekly rate for essential duties performed in an equal or lower position, after eleven (11) working days for that portion of work performed in such temporary assignment. The employee given this assignment shall be compensated with the adjustment beginning on the twelfth (12<sup>th</sup>) working day. The adjustment to the current hourly or weekly pay rate does not apply when an employee is simply working additional hours in their current position.

Part-time employees working a full-time schedule will be entitled to accrue vacation and sick leave at the full-time employee level for each month during which they begin such work on or before the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) of the month. This additional leave time will be credited to their account in accordance with Sections 3.1 Sick Leave and 3.9 Vacation.

# 2.9 Additional Assignments

Part-time employees and non-exempt full-time employees may not hold multiple assignments across the College. Employees who work full-time in an exempt position may be assigned a part-time assignment in addition to their full-time position.

All assignments must be made in consultation with the supervisor.

Additional assignments will not conflict with the employee's primary duties, work hours, or responsibilities. If such a conflict becomes apparent, the College may discontinue the part-time assignment.

Any work related to the part-time assignment will not be conducted during the work hours of the employee's primary position.

#### 2.10 Seniority

Seniority is defined as the length of continuous service at the College performing work in the bargaining unit. Periods of leaves of absence, whether paid or unpaid, shall not constitute a break in continuous service. Periods of layoff or unpaid leaves of absence in excess of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days shall not be considered in computing seniority. For part-time employees, length of continuous service shall be computed by the percentage equal to the total number of hours employed divided by 2080 for each fiscal year.

Seniority shall be applied as provided herein.

# 2.11 Seniority Lists

The development of the seniority list, separating full and part-time employees shall follow this schedule:

| March 1 | Draft seniority list for positions effective through the previous December 31st, |
|---------|--|
|         | provided by Office of Human Resources to Staff Council President or designee.    |
| April 1 | Staff Council President or designee requests for changes, on behalf of the       |
|         | employees due to Office of Human Resources.                                      |
| May 1   | Final seniority list provided by Office of Human Resources to Staff Council      |
|         | President or designee.   |

This provision shall be applied consistent with Section 2.12.

## 2.12 Layoff or Reduction to Part-Time

- A. In the event a layoff, the elimination of a position or department, the outsourcing of a department, or reduction from full-time to part-time becomes necessary, the College shall negotiate with the Union as required by law. The employee(s) so affected and the Union shall:
  - 1. be given notice in-person or via certified mail at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the effective date of such layoff or reduction to part-time
  - 2. be subject to layoff with the least senior employee(s) in the specific position affected first.

Probationary employees shall have no seniority rights with respect to layoff or reduction to part-time and shall be laid-off or reduced to part-time before any regular such employee within the affected department(s) are laid off or reduced to part-time. Temporary workers currently filling positions that will be eliminated will not be allowed to continue in the position over a staff council member.

- B. An employee whose position is eliminated by the College, excluding probationary employees, may be eligible to receive a severance package, as offered by the College, and approved by the Board of Trustees.
- C. An employee whose position is eliminated by the College may apply for any and all open positions for which they qualify. Affected employees must apply for open position(s) within five (5) working days of their notification date. They will receive full consideration as would be accorded internal candidates. Seniority will be a consideration for reviewing candidates for any open positions. Further, affected employees who apply for open positions with the College will be notified whether or not they will be hired prior to the expiration of a severance package offer, if applicable. If an employee accepts an offer of reemployment, the offer of a severance package will be rescinded.
- D. If an employee does not qualify for any open positions or if there are no open positions, the affected employee may apply for any and all positions held by probationary employees for which they qualify. Affected employees must apply for positions held by probationary employees within five (5) working days of their notification date. Seniority will be a consideration for reviewing candidates for any positions held by probationary employees. Further, affected employees who apply for positions held by probationary employees will be notified whether or not they will be hired prior to the expiration of a severance package offer, if applicable. If an employee accepts an offer of reemployment, the offer of a severance package will be rescinded.
- E. Employee qualifications/eligibility shall be determined by the College as follows:
  - 1. An employee is deemed qualified in any position in which he/she has had experience at the College and the employee meets the position's current job qualifications and skills.
  - 2. An employee may submit a claim of qualification for an available position and such claim shall not be arbitrarily denied, but the College may in its sole discretion and without precedential effect, test the employee in such manner as it deems feasible, provided testing shall be at the College's expense.
  - 3. Any employee who has been placed at Step 2 (Second Conference/Written Reprimand) or Step 3 (Suspension) in the College's Progressive Disciplinary Procedures for Non-Exempt and Exempt Employees within the past twelve (12) months are deemed not qualified for a reassigned position.
- F. Affected employees who are reemployed in a position will be placed in the new salary range at the percentage equivalent to their former salary range placement, per pay grades listed in Appendix A. Employees currently at or above the salary range maximum will be placed at ninety-five percent (95%) of the new salary range. Employees who are reemployed in a position in a salary grade the same as their current position will retain their current salary.

Affected employees will be eligible for the same fiscal year increases as other employees if they assume their new position by July 1.

# 2.13 Recall from Layoff

Unit employees on layoff or employees whose position has been eliminated shall be placed on a recall list by seniority (if eligible as defined in Section 2.11) for a period of twelve (12) months

from the first day the employee is off the College payroll. Such list shall be delivered to the Union President and kept updated.

The following options shall be available:

- A. Should an employee's originally-held position become available within twelve (12) months from the first day the employee is off the College payroll, the employee shall have the right to return to that position. The College will contact the employee using the address and telephone number on file in the Office of Human Resources. The laid-off employee shall have the responsibility to inform the College of any change in address or telephone number.
- B. If another position an employee is qualified for becomes available, within twelve (12) months from the first day the employee is off the College payroll, the employee may apply for and receive consideration as an internal candidate. It is the employee's responsibility to contact the Office of Human Resources to let them know that they have submitted an application. If the laid-off employee returns to work in a different position and his, her or their last held position becomes vacant within the original twelve (12) month recall period, such employee shall have a right to return to the previously held position.

If an employee is offered a position at any time during this process and does not accept, they will be removed from the recall list.

# 2.14 Vacancies

The Union President will be notified of vacancies in existing or newly created positions, their job descriptions and pay range. Provided there is no unit employee qualified to fill such vacancy on the recall list, the vacancy will be distributed by the Union and posted on the College's employment portal. Qualified internal candidates must apply via the College's applicant tracking system within the initial five (5) working days to be given full consideration prior to external candidates. Internal candidates are qualified if they have successfully completed the probationary period in Section 2.17, are not on disciplinary action per Section 1.2, and satisfy the minimum qualification requirements. Qualified internal applicants will be interviewed and given full consideration prior to external candidates. If not selected for the position, the internal candidate may request a meeting with Human Resources to gain perspective on the hiring decision.

## 2.15 Performance Evaluation

New employees serving their probationary period shall receive feedback on their performance on or about the thirtieth (30<sup>th</sup>), sixtieth (60<sup>th</sup>) and ninetieth (90<sup>th</sup>) calendar day. Employees who are no longer in their probationary period will receive performance feedback from their immediate supervisor on an annual basis. Such supervisor shall have knowledge of the employee's performance. The evaluations shall consider the performance of the duties assigned to the employee utilizing the official job description on file in the Office of Human Resources.

The College and the Staff Council will mutually agree upon the performance evaluation process and format. This process will include mutual goal setting, periodic check-ins, and annual written evaluation. Check-ins are intended to be coaching in nature, as well as an opportunity to review and adjust goals as department or College needs evolve.

Performance Improvement Plans (PIP) may be used to provide employees with clear and reasonable expectations and time limits with measurable outcomes with which the employee

must comply to avoid progressive disciplinary action. PIP's may be used as an outcome of the annual performance evaluation process or at any time that the employee's performance is evaluated as needing improvement.

## 2.16 Personnel File

The Office of Human Resources shall maintain one (1) official personnel file for each employee. This file shall include all written materials concerning discipline but not contain a supervisor's notes and records relating to grievances and arbitrations. Materials to be placed in a personnel file by the appropriate supervisor shall bear that supervisor's name and shall be dated upon the date of placement. Copies of materials so placed in a personnel file shall be appropriate when delivered to the affected employee and concurrently receipted.

Employees shall have the right, upon written request, to review the contents of their own personnel file and may, when they deem it appropriate, submit statements concerning any material contained in such file, provided such shall be submitted within twenty (20) working days of the receipt by the employee of the original material. Any statements so submitted by an employee shall be made part of the file for so long as the material giving rise to the employee's response remains in the file. A copy of the response shall be served upon the appropriate supervisor or other person who originally placed the material in the file which gave rise to the occurrence. A representative(s) of the Staff Council may be requested, by the employee, to accompany the staff member to such review.

# 2.17 Probationary Period

New employees shall be on probationary status for ninety (90) calendar days of active employment (active employment excludes breaks in service for military leave, sick, maternity, etc.). The probationary status may be extended by up to sixty (60) calendar days with mutual agreement between the College and Staff Council. For purposes of determining the length of a regular part-time employee's probationary period, the employee's regularly scheduled hours shall be considered a full workday.

During the probationary period, personal leaves and vacation shall accrue, but shall not be available to the employee until the conclusion of the probationary period. Accrued sick leave shall be available for use during the probationary period. Such benefits shall be extinguished if the employee is terminated or resigns prior to the expiration of the probationary period.

Employees on probationary status are not eligible to apply for vacancies in bargaining unit positions as posted under Section 2.14.

# 2.18 Discipline

Employees shall not be suspended or dismissed without reasonable cause, provided such shall not be applicable to any action with respect to a probationary employee or to reduction in staff of any employee. Employees shall not be suspended or dismissed without being provided written documentation.

The Board shall adopt a progressive discipline standard and denote which infractions are subject to which penalties. Except as specifically noted (e.g., assault, theft, inebriation on the job, sexual harassment, etc.), warnings shall be given and an opportunity rendered to remediate any deficiency noted.

Suspension with pay shall not be treated as evaluation of the employee's work performance.

An arbitrator shall have the authority to order the restoration of employment of a dismissed employee if accompanied by a finding of a violation of such employee's substantive rights. The Board shall have the burden of proof to establish the existence of reasonable cause. The Union shall have the burden of proof to establish any lack of reasonable opportunity by the employee to mitigate any back pay awarded by securing other employment and/or unemployment compensation. The arbitrator shall reduce any back pay awarded by any compensation which was received or which might reasonably have been available to the employee.

# 2.19 Emergency/Scheduled Closing

When the College is closed due to an emergency, the Board shall pay all employees for the period of time they were normally scheduled to work. If an employee is on pre-approved leave when a closure occurs, emergency closing pay shall not apply. Any such employee who does work shall receive equal compensatory time off. Work on an emergency closing day shall be performed only with approval of the employee's supervisor. This section also applies to any off-campus facilities that are closed due to an emergency.

# 2.20 Management Called Meetings

Mandatory meetings called by management for unit employees shall take place during the employee's regularly scheduled workday.

# 2.21 Job Review

Reclassification requests for a position shall be submitted by the employee with the immediate supervisor's approval only after an employee has been in the position for one (1) year and the job responsibilities have significantly changed. In the event that the supervisor does not support the reclassification request, the employee may appeal to the next-level supervisor. A rationale, (i.e., a completed position questionnaire and updated job description) shall accompany such request and be submitted to the Chief Human Resources Officer. Both the Office of Human Resources and the Staff Council shall mutually approve any proposed change to the position questionnaire. A request for reclassification request shall be submitted for any individual employee's position and shall be processed according to the following schedule:

| March 1       | File with Office of Human Resources.   |
|---------------|--|
| 20 Days Later | College Job Review Committee reviews and makes a recommendation.   |
| 15 Days Later | If the employee is dissatisfied with the decision of the College<br>Job Review Committee, the Union Job Review Committee may<br>file an appeal on the employee's behalf. |
| 10 Days Later | Job Appeal Committee reviews the documentation that was previously submitted to the College Job Review Committee and provides their decision to the College President.   |
| 15 Days Later | College President reviews and submits decision to Union President.   |

May 1

If reclassification is approved, adjusted compensation, job description and/or position title becomes effective.

The College Job Review Committee will consist of the Chief Academic Officer (CAO), the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and the Chief Human Resources Officer (CHRO).

The College Job Review Committee will interview both the supervisor and employee in a joint meeting. Both must be prepared to present their rationale for reclassification. The employee may request one (1) Union representative to be present.

The Union shall have access to the point system and the total point values attributed to each position.

If the employee who participates in a reclassification is dissatisfied with the recommendation of the College Job Review Committee, the employee may submit his, her or their rationale to the Union Job Review Committee, which shall consider the request. If the Union Job Review Committee supports the appeal, it shall be submitted to the Job Appeal Committee, which shall consist of three (3) appointees of the College President (Administrative appointees other than the members of the College Job Review Committee and excluding the employee's supervisor), and three (3) appointees of the Union President (staff council members and excluding departmental co-workers of any position submitted for appeal). The employee, whose job review is being appealed, may choose to be present during the Job Appeal meeting. The Chief Human Resources Officer shall serve as a non-voting resource in this process and attend these meetings. The decision of the Job Appeal Committee and its reasons therefore shall be forwarded by the Chief Human Resources Officer to the College President or designee, who shall act on the committee's determination. The College President's decision shall be in his, her or their sole discretion and non-precedential. If the College President disagrees with the recommendation of the Job Appeal Committee, his, her or their shall submit his, her or their reasons in writing to the committee. Nothing contained herein shall prevent the College President from appointing different cabinet-level administrators from time to time, to the College Job Review Committee, excluding the Chief Human Resources Officer.

Any employee whose position is reclassified to a higher salary range shall receive a salary adjustment as indicated in Section 4.1 Reclassification Compensation.

Annual salary or hourly compensation as indicated in Section 4.12 Salary, shall be calculated on the new reclassification compensation.

# 2.22 Health and Safety

## A. Applicability

No employee shall be required to work under conditions which are unsafe or hazardous. However, unless the work is a clear and present danger to the employee's safety, the employee shall perform the work as required or directed and may grieve the requirement to perform unsafe work.

- B. Access to Information and Records

  The Board agrees that the Union may have access to current data compliance reports filed by the Board under applicable law.
- C. Protective Equipment Upon the express understanding that employees are required to wear and use personal protective equipment and worksite safety equipment provided by the Board, the Board agrees to provide employees, where appropriate, with the necessary protective equipment including, but not limited to, safety glasses, work shoes, and hard hats.
- D. Health and safety training and testing that is required as a condition of continued employment at MCC will be paid for by the College.

# 2.23 Automation and Reorganization

When changes in operations due to technological innovations or other process improvements occur, the Board shall give first consideration to the utilization of affected employees in the changed operations.

If the affected employees do not possess the requisite skills or knowledge to perform the required work in the new operation, the Board shall provide the necessary training to such employees during work hours at the Board's expense. However, such training and acquisition of skills must be attainable within twenty (20) work days, or within the period specified by the supplier of the equipment or machinery as the time period within which the skills should be attainable. When the supplier's time period for the acquisition of such training or skills is more than twenty (20) work days, then the supplier's time period shall prevail.

If an employee does not sufficiently complete the training or acquire the skills in the time periods herein specified, then, in that event, the Board shall fill the positions in the newly implemented operations as otherwise provided in this Agreement.

#### 2.24 **Job Descriptions**

The official job description for each unit position shall be maintained in the Office of Human Resources. All official changes to job descriptions as a result of reclassification or evaluations shall be implemented by the Office of Human Resources. Any subsequent revisions will be reviewed by the employee, the supervisor and the Office of Human Resources. A copy will be issued to the individual employee in the position and the employee's supervisor. A copy of each official job description and any subsequent revision shall be forwarded to the Staff Council President electronically.

## 2.25 Uniformed Employees

The College will provide and replace, as necessary, uniform clothing for all regular full-time and part-time employees who work as custodians, maintenance personnel, groundskeepers or food service workers. It may be deemed appropriate by the College, in conjunction with the Union, that additional positions wear uniforms. Employees shall clean and maintain their uniforms properly at all times, and shall be responsible for their replacement if damaged or destroyed through the employee's own negligence. Upon leaving a position for which uniforms are provided, the employee shall return all uniform clothing in good condition, less normal depreciation in the course of employment.

## 2.26 Grant Funded Employees

The Board and the Union recognize that as a condition of employment, employees who are being paid out of the restricted funds are hired only for the duration of the grant for which they work. Therefore, it is agreed that these employees shall enjoy all the rights and benefits of this Agreement except Section 2.10 Seniority, during the duration of the grant for which they currently work.

Any salary increase above and beyond the conditions of the grant will only apply to the percentage of salary funded by the College through unrestricted funds.

## 2.27 Duration of Temporary Replacements

Temporary replacements for full-time or part-time bargaining unit positions(s) will not exceed six (6) months. However, if at the sixtieth (60<sup>th</sup>) day prior to the end of this term the position will not be filled with a permanent employee, the CHRO in conjunction with the supervisor, shall discuss reasons for extending the temporary positions(s) with the Union President.

# 2.28 Telework Arrangement

Telework eligibility will be determined by the Office of Human Resources and supervisor for staff positions based on job description, as college and/or department operations warrant. Job descriptions shall designate eligibility as: ineligible for telework; eligible but not regularly scheduled; or regularly scheduled telework. By agreement between the employee and supervisor, episodic telework may be scheduled on an as-needed basis for telework eligible employees. Because telework decisions are discretionary, the decision to grant, deny, or revoke teleworking arrangements may not be grieved.

The official telework procedure shall be maintained, and changes shall be implemented by the Office of Human Resources. Any changes to a position's telework status will be reviewed by the employee, the supervisor, the Office of Human Resources, and Staff Council.

#### **Article III - Leaves, Vacation, Holidays**

#### 3.1 Sick Leave

# **Full-time Employees**

All full-time employees shall be credited with ninety-six (96) sick leave hours per year, which shall accumulate at the rate of eight (8) sick leave hours per month to be used for the employee's or family member's illness, injury, accident or disability. Unused sick leave shall accumulate without limit. Family member is defined as spouse, children, parent, parent-in-law, grandparent, grandchild, or a legal guardian who has raised the employee.

## Part-time Employees

Part-time employees shall be granted sick leave at the following rate:

Employed at least ten (10) and less than twenty (20) hours per week: shall be credited with two (2) hours per month regularly scheduled to work, unlimited accumulation;

Employed at least twenty (20) and less than thirty (30) hours per week: shall be credited with four (4) hours per month regularly scheduled to work, unlimited accumulation;

# Part-Time Grandfathered Employees (as listed in Appendix C)

Part-time Grandfathered Employees shall be granted sick leave at the following rate:

Employed at least twenty (20) hours per week: shall be credited with six (6) hours per month regularly scheduled to work, unlimited accumulation.

# All Employees

All employees are required to notify their supervisor or designee for an unplanned absence due to illness with as much advanced notice as possible prior to the scheduled start time, except in the case of an emergency.

A physician's certification of illness is required after an absence of five (5) consecutive work days due to illness.

When it becomes necessary to establish an employee's ability to perform job duties, the administration may request a physician's certification (at college expense) to return to work.

## 3.2 Sick Leave Pool

Full-time employees may elect to contribute eight (8) sick leave hours into the Sick Leave Pool each year. Part-time employees may elect to contribute the number of hours equivalent to their monthly accrual according to Section 3.1 Sick Leave. Participants may draw from the pool in the event an employee's illness requires absence from work in excess of accumulated sick leave.

## **Conditions of Sick Leave Pool**

A. Initial participation is open to any full-time employee with an accumulation of a minimum of sixty four (64) hours of sick leave time. Participation is open to any part-time employee with the following accumulations of sick leave time:

#### **Part-time Employees:**

Employed 10 - 19 hours with a minimum of 8 hours accumulated Employed 20 - 29 hours with a minimum of 16 hours accumulated

# Part-time Grandfathered Employees (as listed in Appendix C):

Employed at least twenty (20) hours with a minimum of twenty four (24) hours accumulated

- B. Notification of participation in the pool must be received by the Sick Leave Pool Committee and forwarded to the Office of Human Resources by July 1<sup>st</sup> of each year.
- C. Part-time employees who move to full-time roles shall retain part-time sick leave pool benefits until they reach the accumulation of sixty-four (64) hours of sick leave time, at which time they shall receive full-time sick leave pool benefits.
- D. Employees who do not have the minimum accumulated sick hours will be notified when they have accumulated the required hours. They will have two (2) weeks to join the pool for that fiscal year. If the employee does not choose to join at that time, he, she or they will not be eligible until the following July 1<sup>st</sup>.
- E. To withdraw hours from the pool, an employee must have contributed during the fiscal year that the withdrawal is requested, unless fully vested.
- F. The hours placed in the pool may not be withdrawn, except in accordance with the purpose of the pool and will accumulate if not used. All hours contributed are not refundable.
- G. Should the hours in the pool be depleted during the year, request for additional hours may be made by the Union. Response to this request will be voluntary. If no additional hours are contributed, the pool will not be used until it is built up again at the beginning of the next fiscal year.
- H. The following schedule will determine the number of hours a member may draw from the pool:

| PART-TIME EMPLOYEES |           |               |   |  |  |  |  |  |
|---------------------|-----------|---------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Years of            | Non-Exemp | ot Employees  | Grandfathered Employees (as listed in Appendix C) |  |  |  |  |  |
| Participation       |           | Regularly Sch | eduled Weekly Hours                               |  |  |  |  |  |
|                     | 10-19     | 20-29         | 20 or more  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 1-5                 | 40        | 80            | 120   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 6-11                | 50        | 100           | 150   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 12 or more          | 60        | 120           | 180   |  |  |  |  |  |

| FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES                                |     |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|--|-----|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Years of Participation Hours That May Be Withdrawn |     |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 1-5  | 160 |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 6-11   | 200 |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 12 or more   | 240 |  |  |  |  |  |  |

After a full-time employee has contributed one hundred twenty (120) hours to the pool, the employee will be fully vested, meaning the employee is no longer required to contribute days to the pool. Part-time employees are fully vested at the following levels:

# Part-time Employees:

Employed 10 – 19 hours: 30 hours contributed Employed 20 – 29 hours: 60 hours contributed

# Part-time Grandfathered Employees (as listed in Appendix C)

Employed at least twenty (20) hours: ninety (90) hours contributed

- I. Extended illness is defined as an employee's illness that causes an employee to be absent from work more than five (5) work days.
- J. Sick Leave Pool may be used only after accumulated sick leave hours are exhausted. The number of hours withdrawn from the pool for employee use shall equal the number of hours the employee is absent from their position. Any unused hours will be returned to the Sick Leave Pool.
- K. The Union will administer the pool.
- L. Physician's certification of extended illness must be provided to the Office of Human Resources before hours are withdrawn from the pool.
- M. Employees who receive benefits from the State Universities Retirement System (SURS) disability or who are absent due to a work related injury compensable under the Illinois Workers Compensation Act, may not avail themselves of any benefits of the Sick Leave Pool.
- N. All accumulated vacation leave hours, save for the equivalent of the number of hours regularly worked in five (5) work days, must be used before using the Sick Leave Pool for a second time within ninety (90) days after a return to work.
- O. When the continuous use of the Sick Leave Pool crosses over two (2) fiscal years, the employee shall be eligible to withdraw from the Sick Leave Pool the total number of hours they have available on the first day of their leave. The employee must then use all accumulated vacation leave hours, save for the equivalent of the number of hours regularly worked in five (5) days, before being eligible to withdraw from the Sick Leave Pool the remaining hours they are eligible for in the second fiscal year. In no case shall an employee be eligible for more than their total allocation in any one (1) fiscal year.

Example: Employee A works twenty (20) hours per week and is eligible to withdraw up to one hundred (100) hours from the Sick Leave Pool each fiscal year. Employee A begins withdrawing from the Sick Leave Pool on June 15, and uses forty (40) hours prior to June 30 (the end of fiscal year one). In fiscal year two, Employee A then uses the remaining sixty (60) hours that they were eligible for on the first day of their leave. Employee A must then use all accumulated vacation leave hours, save for the equivalent of the number of hours regularly worked in five (5) work days (20 hours). Employee A is then eligible to withdraw the remaining 40 hours they are eligible for in fiscal year two.

## 3.3 Personal Leave

# **Full-Time Employees**

Each full-time employee shall be granted sixteen (16) personal leave hours without loss of pay or benefits per year.

## Part-time 9/12 Month Employees

Part-time employees who are scheduled to work 10-19 hours a week shall be granted four (4) hours personal leave without loss of pay or benefits per year.

Part-time employees who are scheduled to work 20-29 hours a week shall be granted eight (8) hours personal leave without loss of pay or benefits per year.

Such days shall be credited to each employee on July 1 of each year. New employees hired before January 1 of a fiscal year shall have one hundred percent (100%) of the above allotment for the fiscal year, and new employees hired after January 1 shall have fifty percent (50%) of the above allotment for the fiscal year. Personal days may be taken for any personal reason at the discretion of the employee with at least three (3) working days notification to their immediate supervisor, or in an unplanned situation, as soon as practical. Unused personal leave hours shall convert to sick leave at the end of each fiscal year.

The requirements of the Illinois Paid Leave for All Workers Act (PLAWA) are waived.

# 3.4 Discretionary Unpaid Leave for Personal Health or Family Hardship

An unpaid leave of absence may be granted for good cause, to an employee who has completed one (1) year of service to the College related to the restoration of health or the alleviation of a hardship associated with the immediate family. Such leave shall not exceed one (1) year, and shall only be granted after the employee has exhausted all applicable Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA leave), sick leave and vacation time. Written application for such leave should be submitted to the Office of Human Resources who will transmit the request to the Board of Trustees for consideration. The written application must state specific reasons for the requested leave, and if the request is for the employee's personal health reasons, the College may require a physician's statement indicating the nature and expected duration of the medical disability. Action of the Board in granting any such leave shall be within its sole discretion and shall be non-precedential. Except as otherwise provided by law, and with consent of the carrier, an employee on such leave may maintain health insurance benefits by making timely payments of all premiums for such coverage to the College.

# 3.5 Illinois Family Bereavement Leave Act (FBLA)

Each full-time and part-time employee shall be entitled to use a maximum of ten (10) work days of bereavement leave consisting of five (5) paid and an optional five (5) unpaid workdays, to: (1) attend the funeral or alternative to a funeral of an immediate family member; (2) make arrangements necessitated by the death of the immediate family member; (3) grieve the death of the immediate family member; be absent from work due to (4) a miscarriage; an unsuccessful round of intrauterine insemination or of an assisted reproductive technology procedure; a failed adoption match or an adoption that is not finalized because it is contested by another party; a failed surrogacy agreement; a diagnosis that negatively impacts pregnancy or fertility; or a stillbirth. The term "immediate family" shall mean the employee's spouse, domestic partner, child, daughter/son-in-law, parent, parent-in-law, brother, sister, grandparent, grandchild, or a legal guardian who has raised the employee. In addition, each employee may take one (1) bereavement leave of up to five (5) days for a person not on the above list during their employment at MCC.

Bereavement leave must be completed within sixty (60) days after the date on which the employee receives notice of the death of the immediate family member, or the date on which an event listed under reason #4 occurred.

An employee shall provide the College at least forty-eight (48) hours advance notice of intention to take bereavement leave, unless providing such notice is not practicable.

Reasonable documentation will be requested by HR. An employee using the benefit for an event listed in reason #4, will submit documentation via an FBLA form, to be completed by a health care practitioner. The FBLA Act does not create a right for an employee to take unpaid leave that exceeds or is in addition to unpaid leave permitted by the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA).

If an employee chooses to use more than five (5) bereavement days, the employee may substitute accrued paid leave to cover up to five (5) unpaid bereavement workdays. Sick leave pool may not be used for bereavement.

# 3.6 Jury Duty

An employee called for jury duty, shall be granted special leave with pay to fulfill such duty. Employees are expected to report to work those days that they are not required to report for jury duty. If an employee is required to report to the courthouse for jury duty on a College holiday, the employee will be entitled to take the holiday on a different date.

An employee subpoenaed to testify as a witness on behalf of the College or in a criminal court matter, shall be granted special leave with pay to fulfill such duty.

# 3.7 Military Leave

- A. A full-time employee of the College shall be granted a leave of absence for any period actively spent in military service, including:
  - 1. Basic training;
  - 2. Special advanced training;
  - 3. Annual training; and
  - 4. Any other training or duty required by the United States Armed Services.

During a leave of absence, the employee's seniority and other benefits shall continue to accrue. During leaves for basic training, leaves of up to sixty (60) days for special or advanced training, or any other training or duty required by the United States Armed Forces, the employee shall receive the same regular compensation as the employee was receiving on the day prior to leave, minus the amount of his or her base pay for military service.

B. Any employee of the College who is a member of any reserve component of the United States Armed Services or the National Guard and who is mobilized to active military duty as a result of an order of the President of the United States shall be granted a leave of absence for the duration of active duty. During a leave of absence, the employee's seniority and other benefits shall continue to accrue and the employee shall receive the same regular compensation as the employee was receiving on the day prior to leave, minus the amount of his or her base pay for military service.

# 3.8 Family and Medical Leave Act

The College will comply with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (FMLA) and all applicable regulations. FMLA is administered through the Office of Human Resources.

During an unpaid Family and Medical Leave, an employee is responsible for their portion of the biweekly premium amount for healthcare and life insurance. Once the employee exhausts Family and Medical Leave, sick, vacation, personal banked days, and if applicable, sick leave pool days, they are responsible for one hundred percent (100%) of their healthcare and life insurance premiums.

## 3.9 Vacation

Employees shall be entitled to accrue vacation hours as follows:

| FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES |                    |                   |                    |  |                   |                    |  |  |  |
|---------------------|--------------------|-------------------|--------------------|--|-------------------|--------------------|--|--|--|
| Years of<br>Service |                    | Non-Exempt        | :                  | Exempt and Grandfathered (as listed in Appendix C) |                   |                    |  |  |  |
|                     | Monthly<br>Accrual | Annual<br>Accrual | Accumulated<br>Cap | Monthly<br>Accrual                                 | Annual<br>Accrual | Accumulated<br>Cap |  |  |  |
| 0-3                 | 8                  | 96                | 160                | 14   | 168               | 240                |  |  |  |
| 4-10                | 12 144 192         |                   | 14                 | 168  | 240               |                    |  |  |  |
| 11-19               | 14                 | 168               | 240                | 14   | 168               | 240                |  |  |  |
| 20+                 | 16                 | 192               | 240                | 16   | 192               | 240                |  |  |  |

| PART-TIME EMPLOYEES |         |            |             |         |                              |             |  |  |  |
|---------------------|---------|------------|-------------|---------|------------------------------|-------------|--|--|--|
| Scheduled           |         | Non-Exempt |             |         | Grandfathered sted in Append | ix C)       |  |  |  |
| Weekly              | Monthly | Annual     | Accumulated | Monthly | Annual                       | Accumulated |  |  |  |
| Hours               | Accrual | Accrual    | Сар         | Accrual | Accrual                      | Сар         |  |  |  |
| 10-19               | 4       | 48         | 72          |         |                              |             |  |  |  |
| 20-29               | 6       | 72         | 108         | 6       | 72                           | 120         |  |  |  |

Accumulated vacation hours for employees shall be compensated for by the College upon termination at the employee's rate of pay at the time of termination.

Employees who begin work on or before the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) of the month shall receive vacation leave credit for a full month. Employees who begin work after the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) of the month shall receive vacation leave credit effective the first day of the following month.

The beginning date of employment shall be used to calculate years of employment. When part-time employees move to full-time employment, the beginning date of such employment shall be used to calculate years of employment. Upon termination of employment, unused vacation hours shall be paid at the employee's current rate.

When an employee reaches the maximum allowable accumulated vacation leave hours, the excess hours shall convert to sick leave hours. The employee shall not receive compensation upon termination as otherwise provided in Section 3.9 for any excess unused vacation leave hours converted to sick hours.

Unused vacation leave hours may be carried over into the following fiscal year(s) up to the accumulated cap.

Whenever a holiday falls within the time an employee is on vacation, such employee may either accrue the hours or add it to the period of current vacation.

Children's Learning Center teachers may apply for vacation leave not to exceed five (5) work days per semester, with two (2) weeks prior approval and the availability of qualified replacement staff.

## REQUESTING AND SCHEDULING USE OF ACCRUED EMPLOYEE VACATION TIME.

The employee shall request the use of accumulated vacation time with their direct supervisor, at least fifteen (15) working days in advance of the first vacation date when the request is for five (5) days or more (four (4) days on summer schedule), when possible. The employee may submit as many alternate schedules as desired. The supervisor may withhold approval of such employee's proposed vacation schedule(s) pursuant to the standard described herein; but, if approval is withheld of such scheduled time once, such supervisor shall state the reasons therefore in writing.

The employee's vacation schedule(s) need not be in consecutive days and need not be submitted concurrently unless the employee desires them to be considered concurrently. If the supervisor withholds approval (which withholding shall occur not more than five (5) working days after receipt of the employee's vacation leave request), the employee may appeal in the following manner:

One (1) Union designee and one (1) administration designee (neither of which shall be the supervisor or employee involved) shall consider the appeal from the employee, solicit input from the supervisor, and attempt to resolve the matter within two (2) working days from receipt of the appeal. Any such resolution shall be binding upon the supervisor and employee.

# 3.10 Holidays

- New Year's Eve Day
- New Year's Day
- Martin Luther King Day
- The Thursday of Spring Break
- The Friday of Spring Break
- Memorial Day
- Juneteenth
- Independence Day
- Labor Day
- \*Election Day
- The Wednesday before Thanksgiving
- Thanksgiving Day
- The Friday after Thanksgiving
- Christmas Eve Day
- Christmas Day
- Three Working Days between Christmas Day and New Year's Eve Day
- \*In compliance with Illinois law, the College will provide Election Day as a holiday in evennumbered years.

Full-time employees regularly scheduled to work Tuesday through Saturday shall observe the holiday on Tuesday if one of the holidays falls on Monday.

- Part-time employees employed at least twenty (20) hours a week shall receive holiday pay
  equal to the amount of hours the employee would have been scheduled to work if the day
  was not a paid holiday as listed in Section 3.10 above, according to the official work
  schedule on file in Human Resources.
- Paid holidays are granted to probationary employees who work at least twenty (20) hours a week.
- 3. Any holiday leave other than those listed above may be granted by the Board.
- 4. Religious holidays may be taken as a part of personal leave.
- 5. If one of the holidays falls on Saturday, the preceding Friday is observed. If the holiday falls on Sunday, the following Monday is observed. If recognized paid holidays fall consecutively on a Friday and Saturday, Monday will be observed as the Saturday holiday. If paid holidays fall on a Sunday and Monday, Friday will be observed for the Sunday holiday.
- 6. Employees who terminate their employment at MCC must be at work the day before and the day after a holiday in order to be paid for the holiday.

## 3.11 Professional Meetings

Employees may be granted leave with or without pay to attend special programs, workshops, or conferences with prior approval of their immediate supervisor.

# 3.12 Sponsored Leave

After four (4) years of full-time employment, an employee may request a sponsored leave for the purpose of obtaining a baccalaureate or higher degree for up to and including one-half (1/2) year at one-half (1/2) salary or up to and including one (1) year at one-third (1/3) salary. Such leave requests for this grant shall not be unreasonably denied. The beginning date of full-time employment shall be used as a basis for calculating years of service.

Application for a sponsored leave grant must be made by January 1 of a given year to become effective July 1, or by July 1 of a given year to become effective January 1 of the following year.

Sponsored leaves of absence are to be approved by the Board upon recommendation by the President. Priority will be given to persons requesting leave for purposes directly relating to their positions or responsibilities at the College.

An employee who completes a sponsored leave must agree:

- to return to the College for one (1) year for each one-half (1/2) year of sponsored leave
- must successfully complete the degree or
- show successful advancement toward obtaining the degree

Failure will result in full repayment of the grant. The foregoing shall be guaranteed by the execution of a promissory note in acceptable legal form.

When an employee is on a sponsored leave, the employee will continue to receive life insurance, medical and hospitalization insurance, dental insurance and vision insurance.

## 3.13 General Leave of Absence

Upon written application of an employee to the Office of Human Resources, the Board may grant leave of absence without pay upon such terms and conditions as it may set to an employee who has been employed on a full-time basis for two years for up to one (1) year for purposes agreed upon between the employee and Office of Human Resources other than those provided elsewhere in this Agreement. Application for such leave must be submitted sixty (60) days before the beginning date of proposed leave.

## 3.14 Time Construction

Accrued leave time shall be used in thirty (30) minutes increments.

# 3.15 Fitness for Duty

If there is any question concerning an employee's fitness for duty, the College may require, at its expense that the employee submit to an examination by a medical provider at the College's current occupational health clinic. When the College requests a fitness for duty exam, the employee will immediately be placed on Administrative Paid Leave, with no loss of pay or benefits pending the results of the fitness for duty medical exam. The results of any such examination shall be made available to the College and the employee.

An employee deemed fit for duty may immediately return to work. An employee deemed unfit for duty may elect to use sick leave if available or may be placed on a leave of absence consistent with either section 3.4 or 3.8 of this agreement, or other applicable leave. An employee deemed unfit for duty may choose to seek a second opinion from a medical provider of their choice, to submit to the College for consideration.

## **Article IV - Wages**

# 4.1 Reclassification Compensation

Any employee whose position is reclassified to a higher salary range shall receive a salary adjustment of the 25<sup>th</sup> percentile of the new range or an eight (8%) percent salary increase, whichever is the greater.

Effective July 1<sup>st</sup>, annual salary or hourly compensation shall be calculated on the new classification as indicated in Section 4.12.

#### 4.2 Shift Differential

An employee who works one-half (1/2) or more of their regularly scheduled hours after 11 p.m. shall receive a shift differential rate of eighty cents (\$0.80) per hour for all hours worked on the shift.

# 4.3 Call-Back Pay

If a non-exempt employee is contacted during non-scheduled time to resolve a work related issue, and the employee resolves the issue remotely, he/she will be paid in increments of fifteen (15) minutes for the total time spent on the matter at the appropriate hourly rate.

A non-exempt employee called back to work during non-scheduled time shall receive a minimum of two hours pay at the appropriate hourly rate.

# 4.4 Overtime Pay

The Board and the Union agree that authorized overtime employment shall be compensated for as follows:

- A. For all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek, time and one-half (1 1/2) of the employee's straight-time hourly rate; and
- B. Double time shall be paid for hours worked on Sundays and holidays if such days are not regularly scheduled work days within that employee's work week.
- C. Non-exempt employees may be required to work overtime or requested to utilize flexible scheduling to allow for deviations from their regular schedules. Periodic flexible scheduling may not span more than one (1) workweek and may not exceed a total of forty (40) hours worked per workweek.
  - 1. In determining compensation herein, the parties expressly agree that overtime shall be compensated for the number of hours actually worked in excess of forty (40) hours within a workweek.
  - 2. This Section shall apply only as required by law.

# 4.5 Vision, Dental, Medical and Hospitalization Insurance

- A. The Board agrees to offer health/major medical, dental, and vision insurance.
- B. All full-time employees, who are assigned a full-time workday and workweek under Sections 2.1 and 2.2 may choose to participate in any combination of the offered insurance plans by contributing the following percentages for medical, dental, and vision insurance coverage:

|  | Calendar Year 2025-<br>Calendar Year 2028 |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Health Insurance Plan 1 (PPO Network)* |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee                               | 17.00%                                    |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee +                             | 19.00%                                    |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Health Insurance Plan 2 (PPO)          |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee                               | 15.00%                                    |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee +                             | 17.00%                                    |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Health Insurance Plan 3 (HMO)          |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee                               | 15.00%                                    |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee +                             | 17.00%                                    |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Vision 24 month Plan                   |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee                               | 25.00%                                    |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee +                             | 25.00%                                    |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Vision 12 month Plan                   |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee                               | 100% Additional                           |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee +                             | Premium                                   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Dental Plan                            |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee                               | 25.00%                                    |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Employee +                             | 25.00%                                    |  |  |  |  |  |  |

<sup>\*</sup>This plan is only available to full-time employees who are assigned a full-time workday and workweek under sections 2.1 and 2.2 as of March 26, 2015.

- C. Full-time employees who earn \$29,000 or less gross annualized wage and elect to have employee plus coverage will pay the same premium percentage as single coverage.
- D. Through the duration of this agreement, part-time employees who work at least twenty (20) hours per week may participate in the plan(s) by paying the full premium(s), so long as they are currently enrolled in a plan and maintain continuous participation as of the ratification date of this agreement.
- E. The College will continue the flexible spending accounts (FSA) for full-time employees in compliance with applicable IRS regulations.
- F. Insurance coverage shall be available immediately upon commencement of employment or as soon as the insurance carrier shall allow.
- G. Future increases become effective with the first pay period of January of each year.

#### 4.6 Life and Accidental Death & Dismemberment Insurance

The Board shall pay for a life insurance policy at benefit levels of \$50,000 for full-time exempt and full-time non-exempt employees.

## 4.7 Tuition Waiver

The Board shall waive tuition and fees for any full-time employee who takes any MCC credit courses. Such employee's spouse and dependent children under the age of twenty six (26) who take MCC credit courses shall also have tuition and fees waived.

Dependent children who reach the age of twenty six (26) while enrolled will receive the tuition waiver and fees for that semester.

Part-time employees shall receive such benefit as follows:

Employed at least twenty (20) hours per week: waiver of tuition and fees for a maximum of nine (9) MCC credit hours per semester taken with prior approval of the Office of Human Resources. The credit hours may be taken by the employee and/or by his/her spouse and dependent children under the age of twenty (26). The employee, spouse, and eligible dependents will receive a tuition and fees waiver.

Tuition and fees waiver is not available for credit for prior learning (e.g., Dante, CLEP or any proficiency tests).

# 4.8 Reimbursement for Educational and Professional Learning

Tuition, registration, fees, course materials, and book costs shall be reimbursed at 100% out of pocket costs to a maximum of \$4,000 for full-time and \$2,000 for part-time employees per fiscal year for the supervisor approved educational and professional learning taken at a regionally accredited institution or other organizations as approved by the College, with prompt payment upon successful completion ("C" or better, if applicable).

In order to qualify for reimbursement, an educational action plan must be completed by the employee and preapproved by the supervisor. The activity must be directly related to the employee's current job at the College, or must be related to the advancement of the employee's professional or future career interests and be of benefit to the College. If the activity is not directly related to the employee's current job at the College, the employee shall indicate in the educational action plan how it will advance his, her or their professional or future career interests and be of benefit to the College. The application for reimbursement shall not be arbitrarily denied.

To be eligible for reimbursement the employee must be employed by MCC on the date of completion of the course.

To receive reimbursement, the employee must submit a completion report to the Office of Human Resources within sixty (60) calendar days from the completion of the activity.

## 4.9 Flexible Schedule for Courses Taken During the Workday

When directed by the College, the employee may take classes during working hours without loss of pay or benefits.

# 4.10 Pay Periods/Direct Deposit

Employees will be paid through direct deposit every other week.

## 4.11 Tax-Sheltered SURS Payments

Employee contributions to the State Universities Retirement System (excluding percentage contributions for retirees insurance) shall be tax deferred and not reported as income in the tax year in which they are paid subject to applicable law and IRS rules and regulations.

## 4.12 Salary

A. The percent used to calculate annual salary increases shall be as follows:

| FY2025 | FY2026 | FY2027 | <u>FY2028</u> |
|--------|--------|--------|---------------|
| 3%     | 3%     | 3%     | 3%            |

- B. Any employee whose current salary exceeds the maximum salary of the position range as listed in Appendix A, shall receive a bonus equal to the annual increase percentage until such time that their salary drops below the maximum salary of the position as listed in Appendix A.
- C. Any employee whose salary after application of the annual salary increase exceeds the maximum salary of the position range in any given fiscal year as listed in Appendix A, shall receive the full annual increase for the first year. If the employee's salary remains above the maximum salary of the position for subsequent years, a bonus will be awarded as reference above.
- D. An employee must be employed at the College in their currently held position before April 1 of a given year to be eligible for an annual increase.

# 4.13 Educational and Professional Learning Monetary Awards

Monetary awards will be awarded to a staff member (exempt or non-exempt), upon the successful completion of the following steps and guidelines. Awards will be paid as a bonus. A maximum of \$5,500 for full-time staff and \$3,500 for part-time staff may be received each fiscal year in educational and professional learning monetary awards.

The staff member must have:

- Completed their probationary period;
- Received pre-approval from their supervisor through the completion of an Educational Action Plan (EAP) and an Educational and Professional Learning Award (EPLA) application prior to the start of the course/activity;
- Submitted the pre-approved EAP and EPLA application to the Office of Human Resources before the start of the course/activity;
- Received final authorization and approval from the Office of Human Resources and
- Submitted official completion documentation to the Office of Human Resources within sixty (60) days of the completion of the activity.

Education and Professional Learning Awards are earned by:

 Successfully completing an Educational and Professional Learning activity. Monetary awards are listed after each type of activity.

#### Credit:

- Certificate (7-19 credit hours) \$750
- Certificate (20+ credit hours) \$1,000
- Associate Degree \$2,000
- Bachelor's Degree \$3,000
- o Master's Degree \$4,000
- Doctorate Degree/Juris Doctor \$5,500

A staff member may receive a maximum of \$5,500 in monetary awards for completion of credit programs annually.

#### Non-Credit:

- Non-Credit Professional Certifications or Licensures issued by an accrediting body -\$750 - \$1,000
- Non-Credit Micro credentials and Certificates of Completion \$250
  - Micro-credentials must reach 24 hours seat time. Micro credentials can be combined.

A staff member may receive a maximum of \$1,500 in monetary awards for completion of non-credit programs annually.

#### Additional Guidelines:

- A. The Educational Action Plan must verify the activity benefits the employee's employment at MCC and/or the employee's professional development.
- B. The Office of Human Resources will maintain a list of pre-approved micro-credentials for employees to complete.
- C. Employees are able to request approval for an activity not listed. The monetary award will be determined by the type of activity
- D. Participation in Professional and Educational Learning for a monetary award cannot take place during work hours. Approval for coursework/activities is not an approval for release-time for the employee to participate in the activity during normal work hours. The employee is responsible for securing pre-approval from their immediate supervisor to do this, either through a flexible work schedule of the use of paid vacation or personal leave time.
- E. To be eligible for a monetary award, activities must be completed as indicated in Sections 4.7 Tuition Waiver or 4.8 Educational and Professional Learning, or self-funded by the employee.

When the above conditions have been met, a monetary award will be paid in the form of a bonus within the next possible pay-period.

If a staff member is actively pursuing a salary adjustment as of July 1, 2024, they have until December 31, 2024 to earn the necessary credit hours/CEUs (15 college credit hours/22.5 CEUs) to qualify them for a salary adjustment of \$1,350. One salary adjustment may be earned for the remainder of calendar year 2024, after which time, the practice of salary adjustments will be discontinued.

#### 4.14 Retirement Benefits

An MCC College retiree is defined as an employee who has served the College as an employee for five (5) or more years and is eligible to retire through the State Universities Retirement System (SURS).

Irrevocable, written notification of intent to retire shall be provided simultaneously to the employee's immediate supervisor and the Office of Human Resources. This notification must be received at least six (6) weeks prior to the proposed last date of employment.

The following benefits will be available to retirees who have served the College as a full-time employee:

- Tuition waiver for credit classes offered by MCC.
- Invitations to College functions and will be kept on the College mailing list.
- Employee rate at the MCC Fitness Center.

Additional benefits as defined in Board Policy 3.6 Emeritus/Legacy Program may be awarded to qualified full-time employees.

The following benefits will be available to retirees who have served the College as a part-time employee:

- 50% tuition waiver for credit classes offered by MCC.
- Invitations to College functions and will be kept on the College mailing list.
- 50% of the published rate at the MCC Fitness Center.

#### **Article V - Grievance Procedure**

## 5.1 Objective

It is the declared objective of the Union and the Board to encourage the prompt resolution of the grievances and complaints of staff members covered by this Agreement as they arise and to provide recourse to orderly procedures for the satisfactory adjustment of grievances and complaints.

## **5.2** Definition of Grievance

A grievance shall mean a complaint by an employee, a group of employees, or the Union that there has been a violation or misinterpretation of the terms of this Agreement.

## 5.3 Definition of Days

Working days shall mean that period of time when the College Office of Human Resources is normally open.

# 5.4 Time Limits for Filing

No grievance shall be entertained or processed unless it is submitted within fifteen (15) working days after the grievant had knowledge of or should have had knowledge of the alleged violation giving rise to the grievance. Time limits may be extended only by mutual written agreement. Failure to communicate a decision within the specified time limits shall automatically move the grievance to the next step. Failure by the grievant or Union to take action in the grievance structure by the specified time limits shall constitute a waiver by the grievant or the Union of any further rights to grieve the subject matter. Such failure shall act as a bar to any further action thereon with regard to the subject matter of that grievance as it is related to that grievant in that grievance only.

## 5.5 Pre-Grievance Consultation

The Board and the Union agree that a number of potential grievances may be avoided if the affected employee and the appropriate supervisor are able to discuss and resolve problems by these means. There may be occasions, however, when the employee believes that, although the defined problem might be resolved by such discussions, when the employee would prefer that such consultations and discussions be held, on an informal basis, by a Union representative and a representative of the College.

In such cases, the employee may contact either the Union President or the Grievance Chair to set forth the problem area. Thereupon the Union representative shall contact either the employee's immediate supervisor or the administrator in charge of the implementation and enforcement of this Agreement as designated by the President of the College.

If the potential grievance is not resolved by this procedure, then in that event, the filing of a grievance in Step 1 shall commence. Such consultation is optional.

# 5.6 Grievance Steps

All grievances shall be processed as follows:

**STEP 1** - An employee covered by this Agreement or the Union shall submit the grievance in writing to the immediate supervisor within fifteen (15) working days. The supervisor shall

arrange for a meeting with the grievant and Union designated representative within ten (10) working days of receipt of the written grievance to fully discuss the subject matter thereof. The supervisor shall provide a written answer to the employee within ten (10) working days after such meeting.

**STEP 2** - If the grievance is not settled in Step 1 and the grievant or the Union wishes to appeal, the grievance may be referred by the grievant, in writing, to the next level supervisor (or to any other person designated by the Board) within ten (10) working days after the answer in Step 1. Such grievance shall be signed by both the individual grievant or the Union representative, normally the Grievance Chair.

The next level supervisor, or an appointed designee, shall discuss the grievance within ten (10) working days with the grievant, the Union and the College, at a time mutually agreeable to the parties. If a settlement is reached pursuant to the provisions of this Step, the next level supervisor shall issue a written agreement signed by the grievant, the next level supervisor and the Union representative.

If no settlement is reached, the next level supervisor or the duly appointed designee shall give a written answer to the grievant and the Union within ten (10) working days following their meeting.

**STEP 3** - If the grievance is not settled in Step 2 and the grievant or the Union desires to appeal, it shall be referred in writing by the grievant or the Union to the President of the College, or a selected designee, within ten (10) working days after the department head's answer in Step 2. The President, or the duly appointed designee, shall, within fifteen (15) working days, discuss the grievance with the grievant and the Union representative at a time mutually agreeable to the parties.

If a settlement is reached pursuant to the provisions of this Step, the President, or the duly appointed designee, shall issue a written agreement signed by the grievant, the President or designee and the Union representative.

If no settlement is reached, the President, or the duly appointed designee, shall give a written answer to the grievant and the Union within ten (10) working days following their meeting.

**STEP 4** - If the Union is not satisfied with such response, it shall, if it desires, proceed to binding arbitration by notifying the President or designee not later than twenty (20) working days from the receipt of the Board's written response. No individual or organization other than the Union shall have the right to proceed to binding arbitration. If the demand for arbitration is not filed within the prescribed time limits or if there has been no mutual agreement to extend such time limits, the grievance shall be deemed withdrawn.

Any time limits herein may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties.

The parties shall appoint a panel of arbitrators mutually approved by the legal representatives of each party. The names of such arbitrators shall be listed numerically by lot and shall be in the possession of each party.

Each arbitrator in turn shall be contacted by the parties until one is available to participate in the grievance arbitration case pursuant to the conditions set forth herein.

Before the same arbitrator shall be used in cases in the same district in any twelve (12) month calendar period, the parties shall first proceed through the entire rotation of arbitrators. If none is available and if either party objects to the use of the same arbitrator during such twelve (12) month period, the parties shall attempt to agree on an alternate arbitrator. If the parties cannot agree, the arbitrator shall be selected by the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) in accordance with its rule. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator and the arbitration process (including court report fees) shall be shared equally by the parties.

Such panel of arbitrators shall continue for at least two (2) years. At the request of either party any name(s) shall be deleted from such panel after two (2) years and replaced by any mutually approved arbitrator(s) or added to the end of the list if it is expanded. No pending case shall be delayed as the result of the deletion for any reason of an arbitrator from the list.

Once the arbitrator has been selected, every effort shall be made to schedule the hearing within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of appeal to arbitration. If the hearing cannot be scheduled within sixty (60) calendar days of such appeal, the next available arbitrator shall be selected unless the parties otherwise mutually agree.

Briefs if required shall be due within thirty (30) calendar days of the completion of the hearing. Briefs shall be submitted in duplicate directly to the arbitrator, who upon receipt shall submit one (1) copy to each party.

The arbitrator's decision shall be due within thirty (30) calendar days of his/her receipt of both briefs.

Failure of either or both parties to comply with any of the rules incorporated herein shall result in enabling either or both parties to implement Federal Mediation Conciliation Service procedures to (a) select an arbitrator for any pending grievance arbitration case and (b) resolve any dispute over failure to comply with these rules.

These rules shall become effective upon agreement of the arbitrators included herein to serve on such panel. Until such agreement is reached, the Federal Mediation Conciliation Service shall be used.

## 5.7 Arbitration

- A. The arbitrator, in his/her opinion, shall not amend, modify, nullify, ignore, or add to the provisions of this Agreement. His/her authority shall be strictly limited to deciding only the issue or issues presented to him/her by the Board and the Union, and his/her decision must be based solely upon his/her interpretation of the meaning or application of the express, relevant language of this Agreement.
- B. The arbitrator is empowered to include in his/her award such remedies as shall be within his lawful authority.
- C. Each party shall bear the full costs for its representation in the arbitration. The cost of the arbitrator and the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) shall be divided equally between the parties.

D. If either party requests a transcript of the proceedings, that party shall bear the full cost for that transcript. If both parties order a transcript, or the arbitrator requests a transcript, the cost thereof shall be divided equally between the parties.

## 5.8 Miscellaneous Provisions

- A. Nothing contained in this Article shall prevent the parties from settling an alleged grievance to their mutual satisfaction prior to the issuance of the arbitrator's decision.
- B. Conferences, meetings, and hearings held pursuant to the grievance procedure shall be set by mutual agreement.
- C. Attendance at meetings and hearings held under this grievance procedure shall be limited to those persons specified in the procedure, witnesses, resource people required by either party and legal counsel for the parties. These meetings shall be scheduled at a time and place mutually agreeable to the College and the Union. No employee entitled to be present shall suffer loss of pay because of participation in this grievance procedure.

#### Article VI - Miscellaneous

## 6.1 Severability

Any article, section, provision, sentence or clause of this Agreement held to be illegal will not be deemed valid, except to the extent permitted by law. However, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the entire term of the Agreement.

# 6.2 Distribution of the Agreement

Within thirty (30) days following ratification and execution of this Agreement by both parties, the Board will provide three signed copies of this Agreement to the Union President and will also post a copy of the Agreement electronically.

## 6.3 Matters not Covered by this Agreement

The parties acknowledge that, during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of the right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Board and the Union, for the duration of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated, to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter, referred to or covered in this Agreement, including the impact or effects of the Board's exercise of its rights as set forth herein on salaries, fringe benefits or terms and conditions of employment, even though such subjects or matters may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated or signed this Agreement.

## 6.4 Duration

This Agreement shall be effective July 1, 2024 except where specified in this Agreement, and shall remain in full force and effect through June 30, 2028.

# 6.5 Board Rights

Except as otherwise expressly provided by the terms of this Agreement, the College reserves and retains full rights, authority, and discretion in the proper discharge of its duties and responsibilities, including but not limited to, the right to control, supervise, evaluate, discipline and manage the College and its personnel including members of the Staff Council bargaining unit; to determine and administer educational policy; to operate the College and direct the members of the Staff Council bargaining unit; and otherwise retain all rights, authority, and discretion which are exclusively invested in the College's Board of Trustees or the College's President under governing federal and state law, ordinance, rules, and regulations, as well as the policies of the Board of Trustees, and applicable common law. The parties agree that the College is not required to bargain over matters of inherent managerial authority, including, but not limited to, matters related to curriculum, budget, organizational structure and selection of employees.

# Appendix A Pay Grade Ranges

The minimum of the pay grade ranges shall be adjusted by 1.5% annually. The maximum shall be 185% of the minimum of each respective range. The College will not hire below the Illinois mandate minimum wage amount of \$15 per hour for grades 1-3.

|       | FY25 Pay Rates |          |         |           |           |            | FY26 Pay Rates |         |         |           |           |            |
|-------|----------------|----------|---------|-----------|-----------|------------|----------------|---------|---------|-----------|-----------|------------|
|       | N              | on-Exemp | ot      |           | Exempt    |            | Non-Exempt     |         |         | Exempt    |           |            |
| Grade | Min            | Mid      | Max     | Min       | Mid       | Max        | Min            | Mid     | Max     | Min       | Mid       | Max        |
| 1     | \$14.21        | \$20.24  | \$26.28 | 29,546.68 | 42,104.02 | 54,661.36  | \$14.42        | \$20.55 | \$26.67 | 29,989.88 | 42,735.58 | 55,481.28  |
| 2     | \$14.46        | \$20.61  | \$26.76 | 30,085.30 | 42,871.55 | 55,657.81  | \$14.68        | \$20.92 | \$27.16 | 30,536.58 | 43,514.63 | 56,492.67  |
| 3     | \$14.71        | \$20.97  | \$27.22 | 30,607.17 | 43,615.22 | 56,623.27  | \$14.94        | \$21.28 | \$27.63 | 31,066.28 | 44,269.45 | 57,472.62  |
| 4     | \$15.04        | \$21.43  | \$27.82 | 31,282.21 | 44,577.15 | 57,872.09  | \$15.27        | \$21.75 | \$28.24 | 31,751.44 | 45,245.80 | 58,740.17  |
| 5     | \$16.11        | \$22.96  | \$29.81 | 33,511.92 | 47,754.49 | 61,997.05  | \$16.35        | \$23.30 | \$30.25 | 34,014.60 | 48,470.80 | 62,927.01  |
| 6     | \$17.86        | \$25.45  | \$33.05 | 37,154.52 | 52,945.19 | 68,735.86  | \$18.13        | \$25.84 | \$33.54 | 37,711.84 | 53,739.37 | 69,766.90  |
| 7     | \$18.61        | \$26.51  | \$34.42 | 38,699.86 | 55,147.30 | 71,594.74  | \$18.88        | \$26.91 | \$34.94 | 39,280.36 | 55,974.51 | 72,668.66  |
| 8     | \$20.23        | \$28.83  | \$37.42 | 42,077.55 | 59,960.50 | 77,843.46  | \$20.53        | \$29.26 | \$37.99 | 42,708.71 | 60,859.91 | 79,011.11  |
| 9     | \$21.85        | \$31.14  | \$40.43 | 45,455.23 | 64,773.71 | 84,092.18  | \$22.18        | \$31.61 | \$41.04 | 46,137.06 | 65,745.31 | 85,353.56  |
| 10    | \$23.48        | \$33.46  | \$43.43 | 48,832.91 | 69,586.89 | 90,340.88  | \$23.83        | \$33.96 | \$44.08 | 49,565.40 | 70,630.70 | 91,695.99  |
| 11    | \$25.10        | \$35.77  | \$46.44 | 52,210.60 | 74,400.10 | 96,589.60  | \$25.48        | \$36.31 | \$47.13 | 52,993.75 | 75,516.10 | 98,038.45  |
| 12    | \$26.73        | \$38.08  | \$49.44 | 55,588.28 | 79,213.30 | 102,838.32 | \$27.13        | \$38.65 | \$50.18 | 56,422.11 | 80,401.50 | 104,380.90 |
| 13    | \$28.35        | \$40.40  | \$52.45 | 58,965.96 | 84,026.49 | 109,087.02 | \$28.77        | \$41.00 | \$53.23 | 59,850.45 | 85,286.89 | 110,723.33 |
| 14    | \$29.97        | \$42.71  | \$55.45 | 62,343.64 | 88,839.69 | 115,335.74 | \$30.42        | \$43.35 | \$56.28 | 63,278.80 | 90,172.29 | 117,065.78 |
| 15    | \$31.60        | \$45.03  | \$58.45 | 65,721.33 | 93,652.90 | 121,584.46 | \$32.07        | \$45.70 | \$59.33 | 66,707.15 | 95,057.69 | 123,408.23 |
| 16    | \$33.22        | \$47.34  | \$61.46 | 69,099.01 | 98,466.09 | 127,833.16 | \$33.72        | \$48.05 | \$62.38 | 70,135.49 | 99,943.08 | 129,750.66 |

|       | FY27 Pay Rates |         |         |           | FY28 Pay Rates |             |         |         |         |           |            |            |
|-------|----------------|---------|---------|-----------|----------------|-------------|---------|---------|---------|-----------|------------|------------|
|       | Non-Exempt     |         |         | Exempt    |                | No n-Exempt |         |         | Exempt  |           |            |            |
| Grade | Min            | Mid     | Max     | Min       | Mid            | Max         | Min     | Mid     | Max     | Min       | Mid        | Max        |
| 1     | \$14.63        | \$20.85 | \$27.07 | 30,439.73 | 43,376.61      | 56,313.50   | \$14.85 | \$21.17 | \$27.48 | 30,896.32 | 44,027.26  | 57,158.20  |
| 2     | \$14.90        | \$21.23 | \$27.57 | 30,994.63 | 44,167.35      | 57,340.06   | \$15.12 | \$21.55 | \$27.98 | 31,459.55 | 44,829.86  | 58,200.16  |
| 3     | \$15.16        | \$21.60 | \$28.05 | 31,532.27 | 44,933.49      | 58,334.71   | \$15.39 | \$21.93 | \$28.47 | 32,005.26 | 45,607.49  | 59,209.73  |
| 4     | \$15.49        | \$22.08 | \$28.66 | 32,227.71 | 45,924.49      | 59,621.27   | \$15.73 | \$22.41 | \$29.09 | 32,711.13 | 46,613.36  | 60,515.59  |
| 5     | \$16.60        | \$23.65 | \$30.71 | 34,524.82 | 49,197.87      | 63,870.91   | \$16.85 | \$24.01 | \$31.17 | 35,042.69 | 49,935.83  | 64,828.98  |
| 6     | \$18.40        | \$26.22 | \$34.04 | 38,277.52 | 54,545.46      | 70,813.41   | \$18.68 | \$26.62 | \$34.56 | 38,851.68 | 55,363.64  | 71,875.61  |
| 7     | \$19.17        | \$27.31 | \$35.46 | 39,869.56 | 56,814.13      | 73,758.69   | \$19.46 | \$27.72 | \$35.99 | 40,467.61 | 57,666.34  | 74,865.07  |
| 8     | \$20.84        | \$29.70 | \$38.56 | 43,349.34 | 61,772.81      | 80,196.28   | \$21.15 | \$30.14 | \$39.13 | 43,999.58 | 62,699.40  | 81,399.22  |
| 9     | \$22.51        | \$32.08 | \$41.65 | 46,829.12 | 66,731.49      | 86,633.87   | \$22.85 | \$32.56 | \$42.28 | 47,531.55 | 67,732.46  | 87,933.37  |
| 10    | \$24.19        | \$34.47 | \$44.75 | 50,308.88 | 71,690.16      | 93,071.43   | \$24.55 | \$34.98 | \$45.42 | 51,063.52 | 72,765.51  | 94,467.51  |
| 11    | \$25.86        | \$36.85 | \$47.84 | 53,788.66 | 76,648.84      | 99,509.02   | \$26.25 | \$37.40 | \$48.56 | 54,595.49 | 77,798.57  | 101,001.66 |
| 12    | \$27.53        | \$39.23 | \$50.94 | 57,268.44 | 81,607.52      | 105,946.61  | \$27.95 | \$39.82 | \$51.70 | 58,127.46 | 82,831.64  | 107,535.81 |
| 13    | \$29.21        | \$41.62 | \$54.03 | 60,748.20 | 86,566.19      | 112,384.18  | \$29.64 | \$42.24 | \$54.84 | 61,659.43 | 87,864.68  | 114,069.94 |
| 14    | \$30.88        | \$44.00 | \$57.13 | 64,227.98 | 91,524.87      | 118,821.77  | \$31.34 | \$44.66 | \$57.98 | 65,191.40 | 92,897.75  | 120,604.09 |
| 15    | \$32.55        | \$46.39 | \$60.22 | 67,707.76 | 96,483.56      | 125,259.35  | \$33.04 | \$47.08 | \$61.12 | 68,723.37 | 97,930.81  | 127,138.24 |
| 16    | \$34.22        | \$48.77 | \$63.32 | 71,187.53 | 101,442.22     | 131,696.92  | \$34.74 | \$49.50 | \$64.27 | 72,255.34 | 102,963.86 | 133,672.38 |

# Appendix B

# **MCC Staff Council Positions/Ranges**

The listing below reflects the part-time and full-time Staff Council positions at the time of the ratification of this contract. Tri-annual updates of this listing will be published on the employee portal. Table updated on 5-15-24.

| Position   | Position<br>ID | Pay<br>Grade | Pay<br>Type | Exempt or<br>Non-Exempt |
|--|----------------|--------------|-------------|-------------------------|
| Dishwasher, Warewashing & Sanitation                   | H01000         | 1            | Р9          | NE                      |
| Dishwasher, Warewashing & Sanitation                   | H01002         | 1            | P12         | NE                      |
| Cashier/Food Preparation - Service                     | H03003         | 3            | Р9          | NE                      |
| Cashier/Food Preparation - Service                     | H03004         | 3            | P12         | NE                      |
| Food Production/Server-General                         | H03005         | 3            | Р9          | NE                      |
| Food Production/Server-General                         | H03006         | 3            | P12         | NE                      |
| Preschool Teacher Assistant                            | H03007         | 3            | Р9          | NE                      |
| Adult Education Enrollment and Assessment Processor    | H04004         | 4            | P12         | NE                      |
| Athletic Assistant for Events and Special Projects     | H04009         | 4            | Р9          | NE                      |
| Career Resource Assistant                              | H04010         | 4            | P12         | NE                      |
| Office Assistant II (Arts and Humanities)              | H05006         | 5            | P12         | NE                      |
| Office Assistant II (Adult Education)                  | H05009         | 5            | P12         | NE                      |
| Scheduling Assistant                                   | H05001         | 5            | P12         | NE                      |
| Bookstore Buyer  | C06104         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Bookstore Website Specialist                           | H06008         | 6            | P12         | NE                      |
| Court Program Assistant                                | H06030         | 6            | P12         | NE                      |
| Enrollment & Assessment Generalist                     | H06031         | 6            | P12         | NE                      |
| Enrollment & Assessment Generalist                     | C06123         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Food Production/Service-Grill Cook                     | C06106         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Groundskeeper  | C06116         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Horticulture and Entrepreneurial Agriculture Assistant | C06122         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Instructional Media Technician                         | C06105         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Instructional Media Technician II                      | C06107         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Laboratory Assistant - Biology                         | H06005         | 6            | P12         | NE                      |
| Library Circulation Assistant                          | H06025         | 6            | Р9          | NE                      |
| Library Circulation Assistant                          | C06111         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Mail/Shipping/Receiving Technician                     | C06100         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Office Assistant III (Admissions & Recruitment)        | C06117         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Office Assistant III (Business Affairs)                | C06114         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Office Assistant III (Workforce Development)           | H06017         | 6            | P12         | NE                      |
| Office Assistant III (SHAH Center/ISBDC)               | C06115         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Office Assistant III (Upward Bound)                    | H06018         | 6            | P12         | NE                      |
| Office Assistant III (Campus Police)                   | H06026         | 6            | P12         | NE                      |
| Safety and Security Officer - Shah Center              | C06102         | 6            | F12         | NE                      |
| Testing Center Assistant                               | H06023         | 6            | P12         | NE                      |
| Academic Support Coach                                 | H07011         | 7            | P12         | NE                      |
| Academic Support Coach                                 | H07099         | 7            | P12         | NE                      |
| Accounting Assistant                                   | H07002         | 7            | P12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant I (Access & Disability)       | C07013         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |

| Position  | Position<br>ID | Pay<br>Grade | Pay<br>Type | Exempt or<br>Non-Exempt |
|---|----------------|--------------|-------------|-------------------------|
| Administrative Assistant I (Academic Advising)                              | C07010         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant I (Career Services)                                | C07012         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant I (Financial Aid)                                  | C07014         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Business Services Specialist  | C07016         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Court Program Specialist  | M07030         | 7            | F12         | E                       |
| Financial Aid & Scholarship Specialist                                      | D07034         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Financial Aid Loan Specialist   | D07035         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Financial Aid Specialist – State Programs                                   | C07020         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Fire Science Training Coordinator   | H07014         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Health & Fitness Specialist   | C07032         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Help Desk Specialist  | C07029         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Human Resources Assistant II  | C07027         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Lead Groundskeeper  | C07007         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Library Services Specialist   | C07021         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Librarian Specialist  | C07035         | 7            | P12         | NE                      |
| Maintenance Generalist II   | H07000         | 7            | P12         | NE                      |
| Military Benefit Specialist and Student Employment                          | C07025         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Pathways to Success Program Associate                                       | C07034         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Preschool Teacher   | J07004         | 7            | Р9          | NE                      |
| Preschool Teacher   | H07004         | 7            | P9          | NE                      |
| Preschool Teacher   | C07033         | 7            | Р9          | NE                      |
| Testing Center Assistant  | C07030         | 7            | F12         | NE                      |
| Academic Advisor  | M08039         | 8            | F12         | E                       |
| Accounts Payable Specialist   | C08027         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant II (Adult Ed)                                      | C08009         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant II (Allied Health)                                 | C08004         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant II (Athletics)                                     | C08014         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant II (Arts and Humanities)                           | C08008         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant II (College and Career Readiness)                  | C08005         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant II (Community Education)                           | C08007         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant II (Manufacturing & Advanced Technology)           | C08006         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant II (Facilities Management)                         | C08012         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant II (Math, Science, and Health Services)            | C08010         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant II (Business, Social Sciences and Public Services) | C08003         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Administrative Assistant II (Enrollment Services)                           | C08011         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Bookstore Textbook Specialist   | D08007         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Coordinator, Career & Technical Education Lab                               | C08023         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Coordinator Catering & Culinary Support                                     | M08050         | 8            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator Events  | M08051         | 8            | F12         | E                       |
| Development Specialist  | C08017         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Dual Credit Outreach & Advising Specialist                                  | M08052         | 8            | F12         | E                       |
| Dual Credit Advising & Transfer Specialist                                  | M08053         | 8            | F12         | E                       |
| New Student Enrollment Coach  | M08043         | 8            | F12         | E                       |
| New Student Enrollment Coach – Undocumented Liaison                         | M08046         | 8            | F12         | E                       |
| Registration and Records Specialist   | C08021         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |

| Position   | Position<br>ID | Pay<br>Grade | Pay<br>Type | Exempt or<br>Non-Exempt |
|--|----------------|--------------|-------------|-------------------------|
| Student Accounts Specialist                                | C08021         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Sous Chef, Food Production                                 | C08000         | 8            | F12         | NE                      |
| Talent Acquisition Specialist                              | M08049         | 8            | F12         | Е                       |
| Upward Bound Advisor                                       | M08037         | 8            | F12         | Е                       |
| Accountant   | M09051         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Applications Technician                                    | M09059         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Art Gallery Curator  | M9065          | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Benefits & Leave Administration Specialist                 | M09064         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Content Marketing Writer                                   | M09031         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Admissions                                  | M09063         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Academic Support Services                   | M09072         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator for Articulation and Transfer                  | M09037         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator Center for Agrarian Learning                   | C09007         | 9            | F12         | NE                      |
| Coordinator of Credentials Evaluation                      | M09047         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Enrollment Processing                       | C09003         | 9            | F12         | NE                      |
| Coordinator of Events and Outreach, Workforce Development  | M09041         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Facilities                                  | C09000         | 9            | F12         | NE                      |
| Coordinator of Financial Aid                               | M09034         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Health & Fitness                            | M9068          | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator Laboratory, Chemistry                          | M09073         | 9            | F12         | E E                     |
| Coordinator of P-20 Educational Partnerships               | M09054         | 9            | F12         | E E                     |
| Coordinator of Professional Development - Technology       | M09056         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Student Athlete Success/Head Baseball Coach | M09070         | 9            | F12         | E E                     |
| Coordinator of Student Atmete Success/Flead Baseball Coach | M09052         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Student Biversity & Inclusion               | M09038         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator Workforce Development Programs                 | M09067         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Desktop Engineer   | M09048         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Desktop Technician   | D09023         | 9            | F12         | NE                      |
| Desktop Technician   | C09001         | 9            | F12         | NE NE                   |
| Grants Specialist  | M09062         | 9            | F12         | E E                     |
| Graphic Designer   | M09030         | 9            | F12         | E E                     |
| Learning and Retention Specialist                          | M09024         | 9            |             |                         |
| Network Specialist   | C09006         | 9            | F12<br>F12  | E<br>NE                 |
| Network Technician   | M09049         | 9            |             |                         |
| Research & Compliance Associate                            | M09069         |              | F12         | E                       |
| Student Success Coach                                      | M09042         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| Data Analyst   | M09071         | 9            | F12         | E                       |
| ·  | C09008         |              | F12         | E                       |
| Telecom/Network Technician                                 |                | 9            | F12         | NE<br>NE                |
| Administrative Assistant III (Advancement & Development)   | C10001         | 10           | F12         | NE NE                   |
| Administrative Assistant III (Business/Academic Affairs)   | C10005         | 10           | F12         | NE<br>NE                |
| Administrative Assistant III (Information Technology)      | C10002         | 10           | F12         | NE .                    |
| Coordinator of Accommodations                              | M10036         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Adult Education Curriculum & Instruction    | M10041         | 10           | F12         | <u>E</u>                |
| Coordinator of Career Services                             | M10014         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Career Training Programs                    | M10013         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Community Education Programs                | M10037         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Curriculum & Academic Operations            | M10030         | 10           | F12         | Е                       |

| Position  | Position<br>ID | Pay<br>Grade | Pay<br>Type | Exempt or<br>Non-Exempt |
|---|----------------|--------------|-------------|-------------------------|
| Coordinator IT Help Desk                            | M10008         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Laboratory-Biology                   | M10040         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Marketing Traffic                    | M10012         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Operations and Compliance            | M10042         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Orientation & Academic Advisor       | M10035         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Payroll                              | M10038         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Purchasing                           | M10043         | 10           | F12         | Е                       |
| Coordinator of Scholarships & Outreach, FMCCF       | M10027         | 10           | F12         | Е                       |
| Coordinator of Student Life                         | M10022         | 10           | F12         | Е                       |
| Coordinator of Student Accounts                     | M10032         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Student Advocacy                     | M10033         | 10           | F12         | Е                       |
| Coordinator of Student Success                      | M10034         | 10           | F12         | Е                       |
| Coordinator of Student Records and ERP Applications | M10025         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of Testing Center                       | M10039         | 10           | F12         | Е                       |
| Coordinator of Web Strategy                         | M10011         | 10           | F12         | Е                       |
| Digital Media Specialist                            | M10031         | 10           | F12         | Е                       |
| Network Information Security Analyst                | M10023         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Programmer Analyst                                  | M10020         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Senior Programmer/Analyst                           | M10018         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Web Designer  | M10024         | 10           | F12         | E                       |
| Building Maintenance Specialist, Electrician        | C11003         | 11           | F12         | NE                      |
| Building Maintenance Specialist, HVAC               | C11004         | 11           | F12         | NE                      |
| Coordinator of Shah Center Operations               | M11001         | 11           | F12         | Е                       |
| Coordinator of Student Wellness                     | M11009         | 11           | F12         | E                       |
| Coordinator of the University Center at MCC         | M11011         | 11           | F12         | E                       |
| Development Coordinator                             | M11005         | 11           | F12         | E                       |
| Farm Production Manager & Practicum Lead            | M11008         | 11           | F12         | E                       |
| Senior Network Information Security Analyst         | M12013         | 12           | F12         | E                       |
| Senior Software Engineer                            | M12010         | 12           | F12         | E                       |
| Enterprise Applications Systems Engineer            | M13000         | 13           | F12         | E                       |
| Senior Network Engineer                             | M14000         | 14           | F12         | E                       |
| IT Systems Architect                                | M14001         | 14           | F12         | E                       |

# Appendix C

# **MCC Staff Council Grandfathered Employees**

The employees in their positions listed below will receive the benefits defined in Sections 2.10 Seniority, 3.1 Sick Leave, 3.2 Sick Leave Pool, and 3.9 Vacation for grandfathered employees so long as they remain in the stated position. Grandfathered employees who choose to apply for and are hired into a new or different position, forfeit their grandfathered status and receive the benefits of the new or different position.

| Last Name                                  | First Name | Position Held                 | Full/Part<br>Status | # of<br>Months | Regularly<br>Scheduled<br>Weekly<br>Hours |
|--|------------|-------------------------------|---------------------|----------------|---|
| Folliard                                   | Irene      | Desktop Technician            | F                   | 12             | 40  |
| Funk                                       | Jennifer   | Preschool Teacher             | Р                   | 9              | 20-29                                     |
| Marks                                      | Aaron      | Maintenance Generalist II     | Р                   | 12             | 20-29                                     |
| Melone Susan Bookstore Textbook Specialist |            | Bookstore Textbook Specialist | F                   | 12             | 40  |

# Agreed and Attested to Upon Ratification by Both Parties

Date of Ratification by McHenry County College Staff Council Local 1642, IFT/AFT/AFL-CIO May 22, 2024

Date of Approval by the Board of Trustees of McHenry County College Community College District No. 528 May 23, 2024

| For the Board of Trustees of McHenry County College | For the McHenry County College Staff Council IFT Local 1642 |  |  |
|---|---|--|--|
| Community College District No. 528                  |   |  |  |
| Suzanne Hoban<br>Chairperson, Board of Trustees     | By: David Behrens MCCSC President                           |  |  |
| 5/23/24   | 5/23/24   |  |  |

Date

Date